IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN CHAMBERLAIN,)
Appellant,)))
vs.)
STATE OF FLORIDA,))
Appellee.)
)

CASE NO. SC02-1150

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAW OFFICES OF GREGG LERMAN P.A. 330 CLEMATIS STREET. SUITE #209 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33401 (561) 832-5770; FAX (561) 832-1857

)

)

GREGG S. LERMAN Florida Bar No. 510963 Attorney for John Chamberlain

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and Appellee was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida. In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

References to the Trial Transcript will be denoted by two (2) numbers separated by "/". The first number is the transcript volume number and the second number is the page number of the trial transcript which will be referred to as it appears in the transcript.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, along with Co-Defendant's Thomas Thibault and Jason Dascott, were charged by indictment with three (3) counts of First Degree Murder with a Firearm, one (1) count of Burglary with Assault and one (1) count of Armed Robbery (R.V. III/455). Said indictment was filed on May 30, 2000 (R.V. III/457).

Specifically, the State charged Appellant and his Co-Defendant's in Count I with the death of Daniel Ketchum; Count II, that of Brian Harrison, and Count III, Charlotte Kenyan (R.V. III / 455). Counts IV & V alleged Burglary with Assault While Armed, and Armed Robbery respectively. The incidents were alleged to have occurred on November 26, 1998 (R.V. III/455).

Earlier, a Grand Jury returned a "No True Bill" on January 5, 1999 (R.V. I/100). The State filed a "Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty on January 28, 1999 (R.V. I/118). Appellant signed a "Waiver of Penalty Phase Jury" on November 21, 2000 (R.V. VII/1243).

Appellant's jury trial commenced on February 5, 2001 (T XVII/91). A jury was sworn and selected the following day (T VXX/639). On February 16, 2001, Appellant was convicted, as

charged, on Counts #1, #2, #3 and #5, Count #4 was JOA'd (R.V. XII/1961-1964). A motion for new trial was filed on February 22, 2001 (R.V. XII/ 1967). Said motion was denied on March 29, 2001 (R.V. XII/2004).

A "Verified Motion to Recuse" the trial judge was filed by Appellant on September 21, 2001, and subsequently denied (R.V. XII/2047, 2054). Appellant's sentencing was held on May 10, 2002 (R.V. XIII/2147, T/V XXXIV/2913). The trial court sentenced Appellant to death on Counts I, II, and III respectively, and life on Count V (R.V. XIII/2151-2152, T/V XXXIV/2931). Notice of appeal was timely filed on May 15, 2002 (R.V. XIII/2192).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 26, 1998, Thanksgiving Day, the bodies of Brian Harrison, Daniel Ketchum and Charlotte Kenyan were discovered at 6507 Norton Avenue, West Palm Beach(T/V XXI/825). The three (3) victims lived at that address (T/V XXI/946). Also residing there was Amanda Ingram¹ (T/V XXI/945).

Raymond Harrison, Brian's father, was awakened at approximately 7:00 am on November 26th, by Ms. Ingram knocking on his door (T/V XXI/811). The Harrison residence was a short distance from the crime scene (T/V XXI 810). Based on what Ms. Ingram told him, Mr. Harrison immediately went to his son's house, along with Ms. Ingram and Michael Leach, a family friend and neighbor, who was called by Mrs. Harrison(T/V XXI 812, 823).

Mr. Harrison picked open the front door with a knife, and once inside saw the body of Daniel Ketchum lying by the bathroom door (T/V XXI/818). Mr. Leach discovered the other two bodies in the shower of the bathroom (T/V XXI/825). Ms. Ingram remained outside until the police arrived.

¹ Ms. Ingram was never charged with any of the crimes alleged.

At approximately 7:04 am, units from the West Palm Beach Police Department arrived at the scene(T/V XXI/831). Officer Robert Heisser, one of the first responding units, met with Margie Harrison, Brian's mother, and was directed to the residence (T/V XXI/831, 832). After briefly speaking with Ms. Ingram, Officer Heisser, along with Officer Riddle went into the house and located the three (3) bodies (T/V XXI/837). Once the crime scene was secured, medical personnel were allowed in (T/V XXI/839).

Three (3) suspects were developed almost immediately based on statements Ms. Ingram gave police (T/V XXVIII/2025). They were, Thomas Thibault, Jason Dascott, and Appellant (T/V XXVIII/2025). Co-Defendant Thibault was a former boyfriend of Ms. Ingram (T/V XXI/950,XXVI/1788). Ms. Ingram and Mr. Thibault also sold drugs together (T/V XXVI/1788). At the time of the homicides, Ms. Ingram was the girlfriend of Brian Harrison (T/V XXI/954).

Co-Defendant Thibault supplied Ms. Ingram with drugs (T/V XXI/954). At the time, Ms. Ingram was an extensive drug user and prostitute (T/V XXI/ 1007, XXVI/1788). Late one night a few days prior to the shootings, Mr. Thibault phoned Ms. Ingram(T/V

XXI/954). Ms. Ingram had repeatedly called Mr. Thibault (T/V XXVII/1790). A verbal altercation ensued on the phone between Mr. Thibault and Brian Harrison (T/V XXI/954, XXVI/1790). Mr. Harrison was upset over Thibault's continued calling of Ms. Ingram (T/V XXI/954). Also, Mr. Thibault and Mr. Ketchum had apparently argued over the "Lake Worth Clique", a local gang that dealt in drugs and stolen property(T/V XXI/954,1020).

On November 26th, Appellant lived at home with his family(T/V XXIII/1212). Appellant took his father's car, a gold colored Lincoln, and drove to the house of Eric Pehrman (T/V XXIV/1358). Tommy Thibault lived at Eric Pehrman's house (T/V XXVI/1783). Mr. Pehrman was a known drug dealer (T/V XXI/1014, XXVII/1880). Appellant arrived at Mr. Pehrman's residence at approximately 10:00 pm, on the evening prior to the shootings (T/V XXVI/1792). Present also was Co-Defendant Jason Dascott (T/V XXIV/1425).

Appellant testified before the Grand Jury, and his testimony was moved into evidence without objection (T/V XXIV/1354). In addition, after having voluntarily surrendered to police, Appellant gave a taped statement describing his involvement in the events of November 26th (T/V XXVIII/2033).

6 –

According to Appellant's testimony, Thomas Thibault and Jason Dascott left with him, and the three headed to a local restaurant (T/V XXIV/1358). Before reaching the restaurant, Appellant stopped for gas (T/V XXIV/1358). Mr. Thibault and Appellant got out, and Mr. Dascott stayed inside the car (T/V XXVIII/2041). As Appellant gassed the car, the tank overflowed (T/V XXIV/1358, XXVIII/2041). When Appellant opened the trunk to get a rag to wipe the car off, Mr. Thibault saw a gun lying in the trunk (T/V XXIV/1358, XXVIII/2041). The gun, a .45 caliber pistol, belonged to Appellant's father, Donald Chamberlain (T/V XXIII/1221). Mr. Thibault paid for the gas, came up behind Appellant, grabbed the gun from the trunk and ordered him into the car (T/V XXVIII/2041). Once inside, Mr. Thibault told Appellant to drive to 6507 Norton Avenue (T/V XXVIII/2046). Appellant had never been there, nor did he know the occupants (T/V XXIV/1372). Mr. Thibault appeared "flipped out", and Appellant feared he would him rob (T/V)XXVIII/2043;2044).

Upon their arrival, Mr. Thibault ordered everyone out of the car at gunpoint (T/V XXVIII/2046). Mr. Thibault knocked on the door, and rushed in upon opening (T/V XXVIII/2046). Jason

Dascott and Appellant followed closely behind (T/V XXVIII/2046;2047). Once inside, Mr. Thibault rounded up the two males, (i.e.: Brian Harrison and Daniel Ketchum), and put them in the bathroom (T/V XXVIII/2047). As this occurred, Appellant, Jason Dascott, and Amanda Ingram stayed in the living room (T/V XXVIII/2048). The only thing Mr. Thibault said was, "who dies first?" (T/V XXIV/1376; XXVIII/2048).

Thomas Thibault then shot the two men in the bathroom shower (T/V XXVIII/2048). The third victim, Charlotte Kenyan, was also taken to the shower and shot by Thomas Thibault (T/V XXVIII/2048). After the shootings were done, Mr. Thibault ordered the others to take everything in the house and load it into Appellant's car (T/V XXVIII/2052). Various electronic items, including television sets, speakers and cable boxes were loaded unto Appellant's car (T/V XXVIII/2052). Once the car was fully loaded, Appellant headed home, along with Ms. Ingram and Jason Dascott (T/V XXVIII/2053). Most of the stolen items were hidden in an alleyway next to Appellant's house (T/V XXVIII/2054). Jason Dascott and Ms. Ingram all stayed with Appellant in his room (T/V XXVIII/2056). Ms. Ingram left first, followed by Mr. Dascott. Appellant, still in a state of shock,

remained locked in his room all Thanksgiving Day (T/V XXVIII/2056).

At approximately 7:00 pm that evening, Appellant was awakened by several loud bangs (T/V XXVIII/2056). Fearing it was Thomas Thibault shooting his family, Appellant fled and hid in the laundry room (T/V XXVIII/2056). Appellant acknowledged it was the police instead, executing a search warrant (T/V XXIV/1392; XXV/1631). Appellant remained hidden the entire night, then beeped his father to pick him up (T/V XXVIII/2057, XXIV/1396). Appellant went to his attorney's office whereupon he self surrendered to police (T/V XXIV/1399).

The other witnesses version of events differed significantly. Amanda Ingram testified that she was in contact with Tommy Thibault because she was a drug addict (T/V XXI/952). Earlier that evening, Ms. Ingram took several Xanax tablets, smoked pot and drank alcohol (T/V XXI/955). Under cross examination, Ms. Ingram admitted her drug use caused her to have memory lapses (T/V XXI/1011). Ms. Ingram knew Mr. Thibault for about a year, but had not met Appellant prior to the evening of the 26th (T/V XXI/950;951).

Ms. Ingram stated that on the night in question, at

9 –

approximately 3:00 am, she heard a knock on the door, and someone asking for her (T/V XXI/957,1022). Brian Harrison open the door, and there stood Thomas Thibault, Jason Dascott and Appellant (T/V XXI/957). It should be noted that Jason Dascott testified that only Thomas Thibault had knocked on the door (T/V XXIV/1433). Both he and Appellant remained in the car (T/V XXIV/1433). This version was corroborated by Mr. Thibault (T/V XXIV/1801).

Ms. Ingram introduced Mr. Thibault to Brian Harrison. Mr. Thibault apologized to Mr. Harrison, and the latter invited them in (T/V XXI/958). The parties proceeded to the living room and watched television while Mr. Ketchum showed them some of the stolen property he had acquired (T/V XXI/960). Everyone was relaxed, and sat around for twenty (20) minutes or so (T/V XXI/960). Again, both Jason Dascott and Thomas Thibault testified that everyone went directly to Ms. Ingram's bedroom where they each did a line of cocaine that Mr. Thibault had brought for Ms. Ingram (T/V XXVI/1803,1805; XXIV/1436).

Mr. Harrison and Ms. Ingram asked Thibault if he could get them additional cocaine (T/V XXI/961, XXVI/1805). Mr. Thibault told them he could get the cocaine from Eric Pehrman (T/V

XXI961,962; XXVI/1805). Mr. Thibault along with Brian Harrison, Jason Dascott, Ms. Ingram and Appellant drove to Mr. Pehrman's house (T/V XXI 952). The trip lasted fifteen minutes. Once they arrived, Mr. Thibault got out and knocked on Mr. Pehrman's door (T/V XXI/962).

Mr. Thibault testified he told Mr. Pehrman if he was interested in obtaining any stolen property. Mr. Pehrman replied that he was not(T/V 1814). Mr. Thibault brought back .5 grams worth of powdered cocaine (T/V XXI/965). The parties returned to 6507 Norton Avenue, and snorted the cocaine in the living room (T/V XXI/966).

Ms. Ingram testified that she retired to her bedroom when Mr. Ketchum put on a pornographic video(T/V XXI/966). After doing some more cocaine with Ms. Ingram, Brian Harrison returned to his room and laid down (T/V XXI/969). While Daniel Ketchum remained in the living room, Thibault, Dascott and Appellant went into Ms. Ingram's room to do more cocaine (T/V XXII/970). It was at this point that Mr. Thibault raised his shirt and showed Ms. Ingram the gun (T/V XXII/971). Ms. Ingram feared for her life when Mr. Thibault told her, "you're either with us or against us" (T/V XXII/972,974).

Mr. Thibault wanted Ms. Ingram to open a large walk-in safe (T/V XXII/971). Earlier, Mr. Ketchum had opened the safe to show them various stolen items (T/V XXII971;972). Mr. Thibault went out to the living room and asked Ketchum to open the safe in order to see some items. When Mr. Ketchum did so, Mr. Thibault announced this was a robbery (T/V XXII/974;975). At the time, neither Mr. Dascott or Appellant did anything (T/V XXII/971). However, Ms. Ingram later saw Appellant wielding an asp (T/V XXII/975).

At this point, Appellee requested a sidebar:

MS. SKILES: Judge, the deputy who is sitting by the jurors has an asp on him at this moment and I wanted permission from the Court to allow him to display that for purposes of asking Ms. Ingram if that is similar to the object she saw the defendant with the night, the early morning of the homicide. THE COURT: Good for the State knowing that you should ask that prior to any demonstration. MR. LERMAN: And I object to any demonstration of an object that may or may not look like what was actually used on the night of the incident. THE COURT:

Well, I'm going to allow you to use a weapon like that at some point but not an actual participant in the trial. He is in here performing the function of a Correctional officer and guarding the defendant, which is his responsibility and he is standing, you know, next to the jury. That's a little too personal of an involvement but you can get some other officer to bring one in and display it. (T/V XXII/1123-24).

The State ultimately asked Crime Scene Investigator McCall to bring in an asp and demonstrate its use before the jury (T/V XXII/1127). Prior to the demonstration, defense counsel again renewed his objection (T/V XXII/1127). The trial court again overruled the objection and thus allowed the State to proceed (T/V XXII/1129).

Appellee asked Ms. Ingram the following:

Q. Ms. Ingram, looking at the device that Investigator McCall is holding in his hand how is that the same or different than what you saw the defendant with in the early morning of Thanksgiving? A. It was more like it would be a knife, but instead of a blade coming, it was like a pole, thats what I remember it to be Q. In looking at this as. particular item, is this portion the pole like portion? A. Right. Q. Was it bigger or smaller if you know? A. It might have been smaller. Q. Now, that particular item, did you see what eventually happened to it?

A. No, ma'am, I didn't (T/V XXII/1134).
Ms. Ingram was unsure who brought Brian Harrison out (T/V XXII/975). After Mr. Harrison was placed in the bathroom, Ms.
Ingram heard scuffling noises followed by several gunshots (T/V XXII/977,978). In the meantime, both Jason Dascott and

Appellant loaded items into the car (T/V XXII/977). Mr. Thibault asked the witness if anyone else was inside the house. Ms. Ingram replied that there was, and brought Charlotte Kenyan²out (T/V XXII/980). Ms. Kenyan was then placed inside the bathroom and shot by Mr. Thibault (T/V XXVI/1832). The witness testified that after the shooting, Mr. Thibault appeared out of control and acted in a rage (T/V XXI/1064, XXII/1096). Both Appellant and Mr. Dascott looked to be in shock (T/V XXII/1096).

Once finished, Ms. Ingram and Jason Dascott got into Appellant's car (T/V XXI/985). Ms. Ingram saw Mr. Thibault hand the gun to Appellant, who wiped it clean and put it in the trunk (T/V XXI/985). All three left in the Lincoln. According to Ms. Ingram, Mr. Thibault left in a white pickup truck owned by Danny Ketchum (T/V XXI/986). The three proceeded directly to Appellant's house (T/V XXI/986). Appellant unloaded the televisions and put them outside under a cardboard box. The remaining items were taken inside the house (T/V XXI/987,988).

Appellant, Jason Dascott, and Ms. Ingram took some marijuana from Brian Harrison's backpack and smoked it by Appellant's pool (T/V XXI/992-994). Afterwards, all three went back into

2

Appellant's bedroom (T/V XXI/994). Appellant set up a "black box" taken in the robbery installed it on his television and turned on a pornography channel (T/V XXI/988).

According to Ms. Ingram, Appellant began making sexual advances, at which point she decided to leave by going out a window (T/V XXI/995). Once outside, Ms. Ingram made her way to the house of a friend, Keith (a.k.a. Gregg) Hamilton (T/V XXI/995).

Mr. Hamilton testified that Ms. Ingram knocked on his door in the early morning of November 26th (T/V XXII/1176). Ms. Ingram asked if she could call the police, but Mr. Hamilton refused, not wanting to get involved (T/V XXII/1177). However, Mr. Hamilton later relented, and agreed to drive Ms. Ingram back to the scene of the crimes, then to Brian Harrison's parents house (T/V XXII/1178, 1181). Once there, Ms. Ingram told Mr. Harrison what happened (T/V XXI/998).

Detective Louis Penque of the West Palm Beach Police Department interviewed Ms. Ingram (T/V XXV/1630-1631). Based on her statements, a search warrant of Appellant's home was obtained (T/V XXV/1630). Detective Penque participated in the search of Appellant's home (T/V XXV1632). The search was

executed that evening, at approximately 7:00 pm (T/V XXV/1631). Appellant's family was temporarily detained (T/V XXIII/1214). Though Appellant was not located, various items taken from the crime scene were recovered (T/V XXV/1639-1647). As stated earlier, Appellant was at his house, hiding in the laundry room (T/V XXVIII/2056).

The State called Co-Defendant Jason Dascott (T/V XXIV/1419). At the time of his testimony, Mr. Dascott had already pled guilty to a reduced charge of three (3) counts of Second Degree Murder (T/V XXV/1500). The plea was entered on August 23, 2000 (T/V XVI/83). Mr. Dascott was to receive ten (10) years imprisonment, to be followed by five(5) years probation (T/V XVI/72-73; XXV/1501). As part of his plea agreement, Mr. Dascott was required to testify truthfully or else face sixtyfive (65) years imprisonment (T/V XXV/1501). Mr. Dascott's actual sentencing was heard February 22, 2001 (T/V XXX/2500). The witness was sentenced according to the terms and conditions of the plea agreement³ (T/V XXX/2506).

³Specifically, the witness pled to three (3) counts of Second Degree Murder, with the State nolle prosing Counts IV and V, ten (10) years in the Department of Corrections, followed by five (5) years probation, \$531.00 in court costs and three-hundred (300) community service hours (T/V XVI/72-73)

The witness testified he knew Thomas Thibault several years and was a friend of his (T/V XXIV/1422). At the time the crimes were committed, Mr. Dascott admitted he was taking cocaine, alcohol, marijuana, and pills (T/V XXV/1519). Mr. Dascott stayed with Hugo Pehrman, brother of Eric (T/V XXIV/1421). The witness had known Appellant five (5) to seven (7) months (T/V XXIV/1423).

On November 26^{th} , Mr. Dascott was visiting Mr. Thibault. Earlier that night, Thibault talked about going to fight the people staying with Ms. Ingram (T/V XXIV/1427). Appellant was not present when Mr. Thibault made those statements (T/V XXIV/1427).

Mr. Dascott, Thibault and Appellant left together, with the understanding that Thibault was going to deliver some cocaine to Ms. Ingram (T/V XXIV/1427). Appellant was there just to give Mr. Thibault a lift (T/V XXIV/1428). Mr. Dascott remembered that they stopped at a gas station prior to their arrival at Ms. Ingram's (T/V XXIV/1129). While at the gas station, the witness did not see either Appellant or Mr. Thibault with a gun (T/V XXIV/1431). Once at the residence, Mr. Thibault got out and knocked on the door (T/V XXIV/1433). Eventually, Mr. Dascott

and Appellant got out the car and went inside (T/V XXIV/1434-1435).

It did not appear to Mr. Dascott that there were any problems, and they all proceeded to Ms. Ingram's room. The witness testified that it was Ms. Ingram who first brought up the idea of robbing the house (T/V XXIV/1438,1544). Mr. Dascott corroborated that they made a trip to Eric Pehrman's house to get more cocaine (T/V XXIV/1440). It was then that the witness saw Appellant give Mr. Thibault the gun (T/V XXIV/1447). This occurred outside, and the witness knew it was going to be used in a robbery (T/V XXIV/1452). Mr. Dascott, Thibault and Appellant headed directly to Ms. Ingram's room, where they talked about committing the robbery (T/V XXIV/1452). It was decided that Thibault would put the three (3) victims inside the bathroom while the robbery occurred (T/V XXIV/1452-1453). Ms. Ingram told them that everything was inside the walk in safe (T/V XXIV/1452-1453).

As soon as they left Ms. Ingram's room, Mr. Dascott went to the living room and smoked some pot with Mr. Ketchum (T/V XXIV/1457). Appellant was also sitting in the living room (T/V XXIV/1458). The idea was that the witness would get Mr. Ketchum

to open the safe by asking to see some stolen items (T/V XXIV 1455).

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