# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-1150

JOHN CHAMBERLAIN,

Appellant,

- vs. -

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, Jr.

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

#### DEBRA RESCIGNO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0836907 1515 N. Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, Fl 33401 (561) 837-5000

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

Thorp is inapplicable here because Detective Fraser was not asked to give his "interpretation" of what Chamberlain. Rather, he was asked, as an eyewitness to Chamberlain's taped statement, to explain the noises that the jury heard on the tape, which necessarily included Appellant's mental state as he was making his statement. While lay opinion about a defendant's intent or motive is not admissible, testimony about the defendant's mental state or condition is admissible. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying the motion for mistrial because, as

already noted, the testimony was admissible. As such, Chamberlain was not denied a fair trial.

## POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED TESTIMONY FROM DETECTIVE FRASER REGARDING AN IDENTIFICATION MADE BY DONNA GARRETT IN HIS PRESENCE (RESTATED).

Chamberlain claims the trial court erred by admitting testimony from Detective Fraser regarding an identification made by State witness Donna Garrett.<sup>5</sup> According to Chamberlain, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At first blush, the Initial Brief seems to be challenging the admission of the identification testimony by Donna Garrett herself (IB 63); however, a close reading of it shows he is citing to Detective Fraser's testimony and therefore objecting to Detective Fraser's testimony regarding the identification made by Donna Garrett (IB 63-64, T XXIX 2079-80). Assuming arguendo that Chamberlain is also challenging the identification testimony by Donna Garrett, herself, the State notes that issue has not been preserved for appellate review because it was not objected to below (T XXIV 1269-70). Archer v. State, 613 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1993); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). Even if this Court were to address the merits, it is clear that the admission of Donna Garrett's identification does not constitute fundamental error. The fact that Donna Garrett was only 80% sure of identification goes to the weight of her testimony, not its admissibility. Further, the <u>Biggers</u> case cited by Chamberlain (IB 65), is a test for determining the legality of an out-ofcourt identification. The two-part test is: (1) did the police use any unnecessarily suggestive procedures and (2) if so, whether, considering all the circumstances, the suggestive procedures gave rise to a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Thomas v. State, 748 So.2d 970, 981 (Fla. Here, there is a complete absence of any evidence indicating that the police used any suggestive procedures and Chamberlain has not pointed to any. Instead, the sum total of his argument is that Donna Garrett's identification was inadmissible because she only 80% οf was sure her

testimony was inadmissible because it was a flawed and uncertain identification. This Court will find that Detective Fraser's testimony was admissible under section 90.801(2)(c) as an out-of-court identification made by a witness and even if inadmissible, any error was harmless.

The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion.

Ray v. State, 755 So.2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); Zack v. State, 753 So.2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000); Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1997); Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1039 (Fla. 1981). Here, Detective Fraser's testimony regarding the out-of-court identification of Chamberlain made by Donna Garrett, prior to trial, after viewing a photograph of Chamberlain was properly admitted.

In Florida, when a witness identifies an individual before trial, the out-of-court identifications, made after perceiving the person, are excluded from the definition of hearsay by section  $90.801(2)(c)^6$  and therefore, are admissible as

identification. However, as already noted, that fact goes to the **weight**, not the **admissibility** of her testimony.

<sup>6</sup> Section 90.801(2)(c) states:

<sup>(2)</sup> A statement is not hearsay if the declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross examination concerning the statement and the

substantive evidence. <u>See also State v. Freber</u>, 366 So.2d 426, 427 (Fla. 1978) (holding that testimony concerning a prior, out-of-court identification, from a witness who observes the identification, is admissible as substantive evidence of identity, even if the identifying witness is unable to identify the defendant at trial); Charles W. Ehrhardt, <u>Florida Evidence</u>, section 801.9, at 662 (2000). Section 90.801(2)(c) applies even if the witness fails to make an in-court identification, or confirm the prior identification was made. <u>Id; see Brown v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 414, 415 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1982)(holding it "makes no difference whether the witness admits or denies or fails to recall making the prior identification"); <u>A.E.B. v. State</u>, 818 So.2d 534, 535-36 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002)(same). Rather, all that is required by the rule is that the witness who made the identification testify at trial and be subject to cross-

statement is;

<sup>(</sup>a) Inconsistent with the declarant's testimony and was given under oath subject to the penalty of perjury at a trial, hearing or other proceeding or in a deposition.

<sup>(</sup>b) Consistent with the declarant's testimony and is offered to rebut an express or implied charge against the declarant of improper influence, motive, or recent fabrication; or

<sup>(</sup>c) One of identification of a person made after perceiving the person.

examination.

Under section 90.801(2)(c), both the person making the identification and any witnesses who were present when the identification occurred, may testify as to the identification. See Freber, at 427-28; Miller v. State, 780 So. 2d 277, 281 (Fla. DCA 2001), J. Cope (concurring) (noting statements identifying defendant were admissible as substantive evidence under section 90.801(2)(c)); <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 777 So.2d 452 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)(police officer's testimony concerning the victim's out-of-court identification of the defendant as his assailant was non-hearsay under section 90.801(20(c) and thus, admissible); Lopez v. State, 716 So.2d 301, 304 n.3 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998) (noting that the witness's sworn statement reiterating his identification of defendant in the photo line-up independently admissible as a non-hearsay statement identification under section 90.801(2)(c).

Further, there is no requirement that the identification occur immediately after the event. <u>See Henry v. State</u>, 383 So.2d 320 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1980)(holding father of 12 year-old sexual battery victim was allowed to testify to his daughter identified defendant, in his presence, two months after the attack when she happened to see him on the street); <u>Ferreira v. State</u>, 692 So.2d 264 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997) (holding photographic

identification of defendant by victim about a week after crime was sufficiently close in time to be considered reliable). "[0]ne of the reasons for admitting section 90.801(2)(c) identification statements as non-hearsay is that the 'earlier, out-of-court identifications are believed to be more reliable than those made under the suggestive conditions prevailing at trial.'" Lewis, 777 So.2d at 454.

It is section 90.801(2)(c) that makes identifications from a photo line-up admissible as substantive evidence. Here, the witness who made the out-of-court identification, Donna Garrett, testified at trial and was subject to cross-examination. testified that at about 7:05-7:10 a.m., Thanksgiving morning, Thibault, Chamberlain and Dascott showed up at her house, with and other electronic equipment, to see her former boyfriend, Hugo Pherman(T XXIV 1259-61). She was later shown a photo line-up by Detective Fraser and testified that she was 80% sure of her identification of Chamberlain (T XXIV 1266-70). mother, brother, and former boyfriend, also present, positively identified Chamberlain as one of the men at her house that Thanksgiving morning (T XXIV 1285-1301, 1301-17, 2082-88). As such, Detective Fraser's testimony regarding her out-of-court identification was admissible and the fact that she was only 80% sure goes to the weight of her testimony, not its admissibility.

Moreover, even if it was error to admit Detective Fraser's testimony, any error was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). As already noted, her mother, brother, and former boyfriend, all positively identified Chamberlain, 100%, as one of the men at her house this morning. They all testified at trial and Detective Fraser testified about their out-of-court identifications.

#### POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED THE STATE TO RECALL ITS WITNESS, THOMAS THIBAULT, TO REBUT A CHARGE OF IMPROPER INFLUENCE, MOTIVE, AND/OR RECENT FABRICATION. (Restated).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by allowing the State to recall its witness, Thomas Thibault, to admit a tape recording of a telephone conversation he had with his mother, shortly after his arrest, which was offered to rebut the defense theory of improper influence, motive and/or recent fabrication.

See Frazier v. State, 761 So.2d 337, 340 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)(courts have repeatedly recognized that the trial court has discretion to grant or deny a request to recall a witness). See also Perkins v. State, 704 So.2d 619, 620 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997);

Louisy v. State, 667 So.2d 972, 973 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

Although the standard of review for allowing a witness to

be "recalled" is the same as that for allowing "rebuttal" testimony, the State notes that Chamberlain improperly cites to the standard of review for rebuttal witnesses (IB 68). It is clear that Thibault was a "recalled" witness, not a "rebuttal" witness because the State had not yet rested its case-in-chief when Thibault was recalled. Chamberlain asserts that, prior to Thibault being recalled, defense counsel had informed the court that the defendant would not be testifying and that it would not be presenting any evidence (IB 67-68). However, that does not change the fact that the State had not yet rested its case and consequently, Thibault was a "recalled" witness.

Further, Chamberlain's argument on appeal, that the tape recording does not qualify as non-hearsay under section 90.801 (2)(b), because he did not attack Thibault's story as a recent fabrication, but rather, as one that he and the other codefendants fabricated shortly after the murders, is not preserved for appellate review as it was not raised below. The State first sought to introduce the substance of the taped telephone conversation between Thibault and his mother through Detective Fraser (T XXIX 2072-73). Fraser was asked what Thibault told his mother regarding who brought the gun and

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  The State did not rest its case-in-chief until after Thibault testified (T XXIX 21661).

defense counsel objected on hearsay grounds. The trial court sustained the objection and the State argued at sidebar that the defense had repeatedly argued that Thibault, Dascott and Amanda had recently fabricated their stories, alleging that the three got together subsequent to Thibault's arrest and "concocted this story to -- to make their stories match; [that] they have been writing letters back and forth, they've been friends, [and] they've been speaking to each other (T XXIX 2073). The State maintained that because there had been that allegation, it had the right to elicit Thibault's prior consistent statements to rebut the fabrication defense (T XXIX 2073).

Defense counsel responded that the State had the "opportunity to do that directly through Mr. Thibault," and that Thibault had already testified to that (T XXIX 2074). Defense counsel noted that Thibault and Dascott had already admitted to concocting a story to clear Dascott of responsibility. Thereafter, outside the presence of the jury, the State cited several cases holding that when defense counsel impeaches a witness by suggesting that the witness fabricated their trial testimony after negotiating a favorable plea deal or had an improper motive in testifying after getting a plea, the state is entitled to present prior consistent statements by the witness, made before the plea deal (T XXIX 2106-10). See Anderson v.

State, 574 So.2d 87 (Fla. 1991)(holding that State was entitled to introduce prior consistent statements of witness after defense counsel attempted to impeach witness by suggesting that she fabricated her trial testimony after negotiating a favorable plea); <u>DuFour v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 154 (Fla 1986)(holding that prior consistent statement made before plea negotiation was admissible to rebut charge of improper motive); Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1997)(holding allegation that witness's trial testimony was motivated by appearance television program allowed State to introduce prior sworn statement made before television show); Kelley v. State, 486 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1986) (holding that where defense cross-examined witness about several crimes for which he had been given immunity in exchange for his testimony, an inference of improper motive arose and State was allowed to introduce consistent statement made prior to the grant of immunity).

The trial court then inquired whether Thibault had been asked specifically about what he said in the conversation with his mother (T XXIX 2111). Defense counsel's recollection was that the State went over statements Thibault made in the conversation on re-direct, but in a general way, the State did not go over the conversation word for word (T XXIX 2111-12). The court then asked whether defense counsel was saying that the

State could have gone over the conversation word for word with Thibault, which defense counsel agreed it could have:

THE COURT: I'm interrupting you again, I apologize. But you're saying if they didn't clearly do it during this examination they could have done it because he was their witness the stand and there on conversation and it would have been admissible as his conversation.

MR. LERMAN: Had they done it in better form maybe than they did with him there, that could have been a slightly different situation, but they didn't to the detailed extent I think their question is referring to. And they didn't play the tape for him. They didn't hand him a copy of the transcript but they certainly went over to some extent and they didn't go over it in detail at their peril.

THE COURT: And in any event, they could recall him because they have not rested.

MR. LERMAN: They could, although he's not --.

(T XXIX 2112-13).

Thus, defense counsel agreed that the State could introduce the tape through Thibault, but argued that since the State had failed to do so on re-direct of Thibault, it had forfeited that right. Significantly, when the court pointed out that the State could recall Thibault because it had not rested, defense counsel agreed that it could (T XXIX 2113). However, once the State announced that it would be recalling Thibault to introduce the

tape recording, defense counsel objected (T XXIX 2116-17). Defense counsel did not provide any argument in support of its objection and did not allege, as Chamberlain now has on appeal, that the tape recording did not qualify as non-hearsay under section 90.801 (2)(b) because Thibault was not attacked as having recently fabricated the story, but rather, as fabricating it with his co-defendants shortly after the murders (T XXIX 2116-17). Even when the trial court later asked whether there was any additional legal argument as to the admissibility of the tape recording, defense counsel did not raise this or any other legal argument (T XXIX 2149).

As such, this issue is not preserved for appellate review because the trial court was not given an opportunity to pass on the issue before admitting the tape recording. The fact that Chamberlain later raised the argument in a motion for new trial does not preserve the issue. There was nothing the trial court could do about it after the fact. See Card v. State, 803 So.2d 613, 620 (Fla. 2001)(holding that defendant who raised an objection in a motion for new trial did not preserve it; the objection that the judge should have decided recusal motion as initial judge was waived by the failure to raise it when the judge ruled on the motion as a successor judge or when the order was entered prior to the commencement of trial).

Even if this Court were to address the merits, it is clear that the evidence was properly admitted and even if improperly admitted, any error was harmless. Under section 90.801 (2)(b), 8 Florida Statutes (1997), a "prior consistent statement" is not hearsay and is admissible as substantive evidence if the declarant testifies at trial, is subject to cross examination concerning the statement and the statement is offered to rebut an express or implied charge against the declarant of improper influence, motive, or recent fabrication, or is one of identification of a person made after perceiving the person. In

<sup>8</sup> Section 90.801(2) states:

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